IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# FILED

PATRICK FRANKLIN, APPELLANT

MAR 2 2 2010

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS NO. 2008-KA-01923-COA

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI, APPELLEE

## 

# **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

# **ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED**

Facsimile:

JULIE ANN EPPS; MSB 504 E. Peace Street Canton, Mississippi 39046 Telephone: (601) 407-1410

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

(601) 407-1435

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

# **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT KING'S CONVICTION, OR, ALTERNATIVELY IS SO WEAK THAT THE TRIAL JUDGE SHOULD HAVE GRANTED FRANKLIN A NEW TRIAL.
- II. THE COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING DEFENSE OBJECTIONS TO THE PROSECUTION'S CROSS-EXAMINATION OF MISTY BOWLING ABOUT HER PRIOR INCONSISTENT STATEMENTS AND ERRED IN ALLOWING THE PROSECUTOR TO USE HER PRIOR OPINION AS SUBSTANTIVE EVIDENCE OF FRANKLIN'S GUILT.
- III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING A NEW TRIAL ONCE DERRICK HUGHES RECANTED HIS TRIAL TESTIMONY WHERE THE RECANTATION REVEALED A MATERIAL DISCOVERY VIOLATION BY THE STATE WHICH DENIED FRANKLIN HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO PRESENT A DEFENSE AND CROSS-EXAMINE HUGHES, THE ONLY OTHER WITNESS WHO CLAIMED TO HAVE SEEN FRANKLIN WITH A GUN.
- IV. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PLAIN ERROR IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT PRIOR INCONSISTENT STATEMENTS ARE ADMISSIBLE ONLY FOR IMPEACHMENT, NOT AS SUBSTANTIVE EVIDENCE.
- V. THE INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN BY THE TRIAL COURT ON SELF-DEFENSE WERE PLAIN ERROR. ALTERNATIVELY, COUNSEL RENDERED CONSTITUTONALLY INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.
- VI. THE STATE'S CLOSING ARGUMENTS DEPRIVED APPELLANT OF A FAIR TRIAL.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### **Course of the Proceedings and Dispositions in the Court Below:**

On August 14, 2007, the grand jury of Tunica County indicted Patrick Franklin for the

depraved heart murder of Derrick Taylor on May 20, 2006. R.I/11.

Franklin was tried by jury on June 25-26, 2008, the Honorable Albert B. Smith, III,

presiding. The jury found Franklin guilty, and the judge sentenced him to life in the custody of

the Mississippi Department of Corrections. RE/11-12.

Defendant filed motions for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict and for new trial alleging, among other errors, that the evidence was insufficient or against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. R.II/196-200. Subsequently, at a hearing on the motions, Franklin produced an affidavit and from Derrick Hughes recanting his trial testimony. R.II/202. At trial Hughes had testified that his statement that he saw Patrick Franklin with a rifle the night Derrick Taylor was probably true. Tr. 157-74.

#### STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

Franklin is confined by the Mississippi Department of Corrections pursuant to this conviction.

#### **Statement of Facts:**

1

On May 20, 2006, at about 11:00 p.m. when Derrick Taylor was shot and killed near his home on Cypress Drive in Tunica, Mississippi, the neighborhood was filled with people who were socializing on the streets after an afternoon of barbequing and drinking. Taylor had been partying since earlier that day. Tr. 112-13. At the time of his death, his blood alcohol level was .27. Tr. 196. He also had trace amounts of cocaine in his blood. Tr. 197. According to the pathologist, Taylor would have been significantly impaired. Tr. 196.

That afternoon, Taylor and the Appellant, Patrick Franklin, had been partying at the home of Misty Boling along with other friends. Tr. 112-13. Misty testified at trial that she had been drinking that day, was "heavily under the influence" and did not now remember if anything got tense between Taylor and Franklin. Tr. 115. She admitted that she made a statement. After being shown the statement she, she admitted that things got tense between Franklin and Taylor because Taylor was playing with her hair and would not stop. Tr. 116.

She maintained that Franklin threatened Taylor in a "jokingly manner." Tr. 117. The prosecution, over defense objection, allowed the prosecution to impeach her with her prior

statement where she said she thought Franklin meant it. Tr. 118-19. The prosecutor then asked Misty if he had talked to her before at least once and possibly twice and if she recalled telling him that she thought Franklin was serious when he made that threat. Misty testified that she did not remember telling him that. The prosecutor threatened her with perjury. Again, the Court overruled the defendant's objection. Significantly, the prosecutor never presented any sworn testimony that Misty had in fact told him any such thing. Tr. 120.

The prosecutor, once more over objection, questioned her about what she meant when she put in her statement: "I believe he did kill Derrick Taylor because he told me he was going to kill him that night." Ms. Boling testified that she did not remember putting that in her statement. Tr. 123. She reiterated her testimony that the two were joking. According to her, nobody left the party at that time, and according to her, both Taylor and Franklin were laughing. Tr. 125.

Derrick Hughes testified that later that day, he saw Taylor and Franklin on the street arguing. Franklin did not hit Taylor. When Franklin left, he did not seem upset. Tr. 166, 170.

At some point after that altercation, Taylor took a couple of swings at Lenario Davis who struck Taylor in the mouth knocking out some teeth. Tr. 247. According to Davis, Taylor got up and ran toward his like "as if he was going to get something." Tr. 247. Davis believed Taylor was mad at Davis for knocking his teeth out. Tr. 247.

As Taylor got to his house, three men jumped out of a car and beat up Taylor.<sup>1</sup> Tr. 247. Taylor apparently retrieved a shotgun from the house and then started back up Cypress toward the corner where he fired the shotgun scattering the crowd which included several children. Someone then shot Taylor who went back to his house where he died under the carport from a .22 caliber gunshot wound to the chest. Tr. 98, 192.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Franklin was not one of the three. Tr. 171.

The police arrived shortly after Taylor died and began to interview witnesses. They collected the .12 gauge shotgun belonging to Taylor. Tr. 87. As a result of their investigation, Lenario Davis was taken into custody. Unfortunately, police delayed testing him for GSR (gunshot residue) until three or four hours later. Tr. 145. By that time, his hands tested negative for GSR. Tr. 141. The State's forensic expert testified that after about four hours, gunshot residue would disappear. He also testified that if Davis had washed his hands or wiped them on his clothing or hair, the results of the test on his hands would be negative. Tr. 145. Davis' clothes were not testified for GSR. Tr. 155.

Lenario Davis was taken into custody the night of the shooting and held for the crime for approximately four days until Immona Davis, his sister, made a statement saying she saw Franklin shoot Taylor. Tr. 91. That same day Derrick Hughes made a statement that at some unspecified time earlier in the evening, he saw Franklin carrying a rifle while he was going through Hughes' yard.<sup>2</sup> Tr. 91. Initially when testifying at trial, Hughes could not remember telling police that he saw Franklin with the rifle. Subsequently, when confronted with his statement, he testified that it would have been true if he put it in his statement. Tr. 160.

Immona Davis testified at trial that she was standing around with some twenty or so friends on the street when she heard a gunshot which she did not think anything about until she saw Patrick Franklin walking down the street with a rifle or something that, according to her, was not a handgun.<sup>3</sup> Tr. 208, 218. Then she "heard the second gunshot which came from Patrick Franklin." Tr. 208. The first shot came from Derrick Taylor who was coming from his house on Cypress Street carrying a shotgun. Tr. 208-09, 211.

Although she did not see Taylor fire his first shot, according to her, he fired into the air. Tr. 212. Although according to her, she remained on the corner, other people were scared and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Hughes testified he was a friend of Davis, Franklin and Taylor. Tr. 161.

ran. According to Davis, she saw the shot from Franklin's gun hit Taylor because he fell back, shot again, and ran home, falling in his carport. Tr. 212. According to her, Franklin said, "You all don't have to run. I got this." Tr. 213. Afterwards, Franklin ran off but came to Sharon Lane's house after the police came and asked for turpentine. Tr. 213-14.

Immona further testified that she saw Taylor "get into it" earlier that day with her cousin Reginald Jones. Tr. 210. According to her, after her brother's "altercation happened, I saw my brother run<sup>4</sup> down the street as if, you know, he knew Deck was going to get a gun or something." Tr. 215. Her brother stopped and told her about the fight with Deck Tr. 217. Her mother came and met her brother outside.<sup>5</sup> Tr. 217.

Although Immona claimed she had made a written statement the night of the crime implicating Franklin, the state failed to produce that statement at trial although testimony from the police showed that she was interviewed the night of the shooting.<sup>6</sup> Tr. 91. In her written statement given on May 24<sup>th</sup>, Immona never said that Taylor's first shot was into the air. *Exhibit* D-2 for Id.

Lenario Davis admitted that on May 20<sup>th</sup>, he was just coming off Cypress Street with his cousin, Regis Jones, and Damien Hughes<sup>7</sup> at about 11:00 when Taylor accosted them and shoved Damien in the chest. Tr. 244-45. Taylor then started "saying a lot of little stuff out of his mouth" to Davis and then came toward Davis swinging. Tr. 245. Davis hit Taylor and knocked Taylor's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Immona was 15 at the time. Tr. 216.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Later, she said he was "walking" towards the house. Tr. 217.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This testimony contradicts her earlier testimony that at the time of the shooting, she believed her brother was "supposedly" inside her grandmother's house on Elm. Tr. 215. In an attempt to explain he inconsistency, she said she did not see her mother meet her brother because the shooting had already occurred when that happened, and she was at Sharon Lane's house by that time. Tr. 218.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> At the time Immona allegedly gave a statement to the police that night, she knew her brother had knocked Taylor's teeth out and that he had been arrested for the crime. Tr. 219.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Neither Damien Hughes nor Regis Jones testified. Damien Hughes is Derrick Hughes's nephew. Tr. 243-44.

teeth out. He ran to his grandmother's house at 1164 Elm Drive because when Taylor got up, "his body language was telling me like as if he was going to get some type of weapon or something. So I ran - -." On the way to his grandmother's hosue, he met his mother who had heard that he had just gotten into it with somebody.<sup>8</sup> Tr. 236, 243.

Davis said he saw Franklin when Davis was running down Elm Street. Tr. 237. However, he did not see Franklin with a rifle. Tr. 255. According to him, he sat around for five or ten minutes and then Brandi Sanders pulled up in her car and told him to get in. They rode to her house and then went to Sharon Lane's house. Tr. 237. He was not on Elm Street when the shooting occurred and did not "hear [] no shooting period." Tr. 251. Significantly, he contradicted Immona's testimony that he had stopped at the corner on his way to his grandmother's house and told her about the fight with Taylor. Tr. 248.

Davis initially testified that he gave only one statement to the police; however, he admitted that he may have given four. See, Exhibits D-3 and D-4 for ID [tape recorded statements of Davis].

Davis initially denied that he had a .22 pistol, but admitted that he had told police that he caught a charge in Memphis because he had a .22 pistol. He admitted that he told police when he was arrested for killing Taylor that he had found it in the bayou when he was 14. Tr. 254. Davis testified that he had lied when he told police he found it in the bayou. He had found it in a back street after a football game. Tr. 255.

Police secured two warrants for Franklin's house. The only physical evidence even remotely incriminating Franklin consisted of four spent .22 shell casings found outside

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Both the testimony of Davis and his mother show that Davis was not at his grandmother's house at the time of the shooting but was still on the streets.

Franklin's residence.<sup>9</sup> Tr. 93-94. Testimony from Derrick Hughes established that Franklin had a rifle which he used for target practice in the bayou by his house on Elm Street. Tr. 171-72.

Police at some point recovered the wooden butt of a rifle or long gun located next door to an abandoned house on Elm Street. Both Lenario Davis and Patrick Franklin lived on Elm Street. Tr. 95, 99. Police were unable to connect the butt with the crime.

After his motion for directed verdict was overruled, the defense called Odell Harris to testify. Harris testified that he was on his way home from his sister's house and was on Elm Street when he heard the shot and saw everybody running. He did not see Patrick Franklin with a rifle. Tr. 255-56. He admitted that that night he was drunk and that he had had two beers earlier that day before he came to court. He testified that he drank "[e]very day I can get it." Tr. 266.

Bridget Davis, the mother of Immona and Lenario, testified that she was sitting inside her uncle's house reading when her cousin, Regis Jones, knocked on the door and said Deck was outside shooting because "earlier they had some little altercation going on." When he saw Deck again, he started running. Tr. 271. As a result of what he told her, she and her brother went outside to try to find Lenario. She met him close to her grandmother's house on Elm Street. He was with some more guys. Tr. 272. She asked him if he had been shot. Tr. 271. She testified that while she was inside she and her brother thought they had heard a shot. Tr. 271-72.

She did not see her Immona on the corner. Tr. 274. She did not clear the corner. Tr. 275. In her written statement given the next day, she said she asked the teenagers to leave the corner

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> These cartridges were not discharged at the time of the offense because the offense allegedly occurred on Cypress Street. Eugene Bridges, Commander of the Tunica County Sheriff's Department confirmed that there was no evidence that the shell casings were in any way related to the case. Tr. 100. Franklin's house was on Elm. The only arguable relevance of the evidence was to confirm Derrick Hughes's testimony that at an unspecified past time, he had seen Franklin shooting a .22 rifle into the Bayou as target practice. Tr. 171-72. The evidence, therefore, showed only that Franklin had at one time possessed a .22 rifle. Taylor was killed by a .22 round; however, the ballistics expert was unable to state whether or not the round came from a rifle or a ubiquitous .22 pistol known as a "Saturday Night Special."

and that **afterwards**, she heard gunshots being fired. Tr. 277-80. Her statement contradicted her trial testimony and that of her daughter that Immona was at the corner when the shots were fired.

Franklin's request for peremptory instruction was denied. Tr. 288.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This is one of those rare cases where the evidence is insufficient to support the verdict. Alternatively, the evidence is so flimsy and unreliable, this Court should grant a new trial.

Next, the prosecution committed reversible error in failing to tell the defense that their witness, Derrick Hughes, whom the prosecution argued "had no dog in this fight," had in fact been indicted by the prosecutor's office for arson; and, therefore, had considerable incentive to curry favor with the prosecution by putting a rifle in Franklin's hands.

Furthermore, assuming *arguendo* that Franklin is not entitled to a new trial or discharge, the trial court and prosecution erred in introducing prior inconsistent statements as substantive evidence of guilt.

The instructions wholly failed to instruct the jury on the issues of self-defense and the use of prior inconsistent statements.

Finally, cumulative error in the prosecutor's argument requires reversal because those errors may have caused the jury to credit otherwise weak evidence in order to convict Franklin.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT FRANKLIN'S CONVICTION, OR, ALTERNATIVELY, IS SO WEAK THAT THE TRIAL JUDGE SHOULD HAVE GRANTED FRANKLIN A NEW TRIAL.

A. Standard of Review:

1. Sufficiency of the Evidence:

The due process clauses of both the state and federal constitution forbid a conviction where the reliable evidence fails to show the Defendant's guilt of each and every element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S.Const., Amends. VI and XIV; Miss.Const, Art. 3, Sections 14 and 26; *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307 (1979); *Carr v. State*, 208 So.2d 886, 889 (Miss.1968). The relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. at 315.

Should the facts and inferences considered in a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence point in favor of the defendant on any element of the offense with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty, the proper remedy is for the appellate court to reverse and discharge. However, if a review of the evidence reveals that it is of such quality and weight that, having in mind the beyond a reasonable doubt burden of proof standard, reasonable fair-minded men in the exercise of impartial judgment might reach different conclusions on every element of the offense, the evidence will be deemed to have been sufficient. *Dilworth v. State*, 909 So.2d 731, 736 - 738 (Miss. 2005).

One Court has described the Jackson standard for sufficiency of the evidence as follows:

The Court of course does not mean that whenever the record supports conflicting inferences, no matter how weak, the prosecution wins, for not only would this be no more stringent than the standard of review in a civil case but also the prosecution would only fail in its proof where there was a total absence of probative evidence, which is the "no evidence" standard rejected in Jackson. If Jackson's beyond a reasonable doubt standard is to have any meaning, we must assume that when the choice between guilt and innocence from "historical" or undisputed facts reaches a certain degree of conjecture and speculation, then the defendant must be acquitted. Ulster [v. County Court v. Allen, 442 U.S. 140 (1979)] clarifies that this degree of inferential attenuation is reached at the least when the undisputed facts give equal support to inconsistent inferences. In short, we read the quoted passage from Jackson to mean that the simple fact that the evidence gives some support to the defendant does not demand acquittal. However, if the evidence fails to give support to the prosecution sufficient to allow a reasonable juror to find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, a verdict must be directed despite the existence of conflicting inferences.

Cosby v. Jones, 682 F.2d 1373. 1383, n.21 (11th Cir. 1982).

## 2. Weight of the Evidence:

A motion for new trial challenges the weight of the evidence. More evidence of guilt is necessary for the state to withstand a motion for a new trial, than is required to withstand a motion for JNOV.

A reversal on the grounds that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, unlike a reversal based on insufficient evidence, does not mean that acquittal was the only proper verdict. Rather, as the "thirteenth juror," the court simply disagrees with the jury's resolution of the conflicting testimony. This difference of opinion does not signify acquittal any more than a disagreement among the jurors themselves. Instead, the proper remedy is to grant a new trial. *Id.* at 737.

Although the circumstances under which this Court will disturb a jury's verdict are "exceedingly rare," such situations arise "where, from the whole circumstances, the testimony is contradictory and unreasonable, and so highly improbable that the truth of it becomes so extremely doubtful that it is repulsive to the reasoning of the ordinary mind [internal citations omitted]." *Id.* at 737. Despite this high standard, "[t]his Court has not hesitated to invoke its authority to order a new trial and allow a second jury to pass on the evidence where it considers the first jury's determination of guilt to be based on extremely weak or tenuous evidence [,] even where that evidence is sufficient to withstand a motion for a directed verdict [internal citations omitted]." *Id.* 

## B. The Merits:

As far as this case is concerned, there were two issues in dispute that the prosecution was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) First, that Franklin killed Taylor; and if so,

(2) that he was not acting in self-defense. *Sloan v. State*, 368 So.2d 228, 229 (Miss. 1979) [Defendant is not required to prove that he acted in self-defense, and, "if a reasonable doubt of his guilt arises from the evidence, . . . he must be acquitted"].

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