IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PATRICK FRANKLIN

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-1923

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LADONNA HOLLAND

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

BY: SCOTT STUART

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

The judge was the finder of fact and had the discretion to determine if he believed that the officers offered to help Hughes with his arson charge in exchange for testimony. *Howell*, 989 So.2d at 384. The Judge was not satisfied that Hughes's affidavit was true. With all due respect, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion when he denied Franklin's post-trial motion.

V. THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED WITH REGARD TO SELF-DEFENSE.

Franklin argues that "the instructions given by the trial court on self-defense were plain error." Appellant 's Brief p. 29. In order to establish that the instructions given constituted plain error, Franklin must establish that there was: "(I) an error at the trial level and (ii) such an error resulted in a manifest miscarriage of justice." *Johnson v. State*, 19 So.3d 145, 147 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) (quoting *Stephens v. State*, 911 So.2d 424, 432 (Miss.2005)). The jury instructions in this case did not constitute plain error as there was no error.

Jury instructions are within the sound discretion of the trial court. Shumpert v. State, 935

So.2d 962 (Miss. 2006) (citing *Goodin v. State*, 787 So.2d 639, 657 (Miss. 2001)). "In determining whether error lies in the granting or refusal of various instructions, the instructions actually given must be read as a whole. When so read, if the instructions fairly announce the law of the case and create no injustice, no reversible error will be found." *Johnson v. State*, 19 So.3d 145, 146 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) (quoting *Johnson v. State*, 823 So.2d 582, 584 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002)). The instructions given in this case, when read as a whole, fairly announced the law on self-defense.

In asserting that the instructions constituted plain error, Franklin argues that Instruction S-1, the elements instruction, "fails to require the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant did not act in self-defense." Appellant's Brief p. 30. While the "elements instruction" itself did not list this element, Instruction D-1 fully addressed the element:

Instruction D-1

The killing of a human being by the act, procurement or omission of another shall be justifiable when committed in the lawful defense of one's own person or any other human being, where there shall be reasonable grounds to apprehend a design to commit a felony or to do some great personal injury, and there shall be imminent danger of such design being accomplished.

If, you, the jury finds that Patrick Franklin is justified in the killing of Derrick Taylor you will return a verdict of not guilty.

(Record p. 172). Instruction D-1 was very straightforward and instructed the jury that if they found that Franklin was acting in self-defense or defense of others, they should return a verdict of not guilty. This instruction was read to the jury immediately after the "elements instructions." Transcript p. 306. "[E]rror will not be found if one instruction lacks an element but that element is found in another instruction given by the court." *Shirley v. State*, 942 So.2d 322, 330 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). As such, the jury was fully instructed on the elements of the crime.

Franklin further argues that "there is no instruction placing the burden on the State to prove the absence of self-defense." Appellant's Brief p. 31. However, the instructions must be read as whole. The actual instructions given in this case instructed the jury to consider the instructions as a whole:

Instruction C-1

* * *

You are not to single out one instruction alone as stating the law, but you must consider these instructions as a whole.

* * *

(Record p. 161). They also instructed the jury that the defendant did not have to prove anything:

Instruction C-25

The Court instructs the jury that the Defendant in a criminal case has no burden of proof whatsoever. The State of Mississippi, on the other hand, must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant committed the acts as alleged in the indictment.

* * *

(Record p. 168).

Instruction C-7

The law presumes every person charged with the commission of a crime to be innocent. This presumption places upon the State the burden of proving the defendant guilty of every material element of the crime with which he/she is charged. Before you can return a verdict of guilty, the State must prove to your satisfaction beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant is guilty. The presumption of innocence attends the defendant throughout the trial and prevails at its close unless overcome by evidence which satisfies the jury of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. The defendant is not required to prove his/her innocence.

(Record p. 163). Thus, the jury was fully and completely instructed that the State had to prove the elements of the crime and that Franklin had no burden of proof whatsoever.

Franklin also takes issue with Instruction D-1. Appellant's Brief p. 31. However, this instruction was requested by Franklin; therefore, he cannot now argue that it was error for the trial court to have given it. *See Harris v. State*, 861 So.2d 1003, 1015 (Miss. 2003) (holding that "a defendant cannot complain of an instruction which he, not the State, requested.") Further, there was no error in giving the instruction. Franklin argues that Instruction D-1 shifted the burden to him to

prove that he was acting in self-defense and was similar to the instruction in *Reddix v. State*, 98 So. 850 (Miss. 1924) which the Mississippi Supreme Court held was erroneous. Instruction D-1 did not shift the burden to Franklin. It did not indicate in any way whatsoever that Franklin had to prove that he acted in self-defense or defense of others. In that way, it was dissimilar to the instruction in *Reddix* which is set forth below:

The court charges the jury, for the state, that in order to justify the killing of deceased on a plea of self-defense it was incumbent on the defendant to show: That at the time of the homicide he was in imminent danger, at the hands of deceased of his own life, or of great bodily harm.

98 So. 850, 850 (Miss. 1924). The *Reddix* instruction clearly stated that it was the defendant's duty to show that he acted in self-defense. Instruction D-1 did not instruct the jury that it was Franklin's duty to show he acted in self-defense and was, therefore, a correct statement of the law. Moreover, Instructions C-7 and C-25, set forth above, clearly instructed the jury that Franklin had no burden of proof.

Franklin also argues that Instructions D-1 and S-6 deprived him "of the right to act if he reasonably believes the danger is imminent." Appellant's Brief p. 32. However, these instructions were not improper statements of the law. Instruction D-1 mirrors the self-defense statute, Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-15(f). The Mississippi Supreme Court has "consistently held that instructions in a criminal case which follow the language of a pertinent statute are sufficient." *Rubenstein v. State*, 941 So.2d 735, 772 (Miss. 2006)(quoting *Byrom v. State*, 863 So.2d 836, 880 (Miss.2003)). Also, an identical instruction to S-6 was upheld by this Court in *Ellis v. State*, 956 So.2d 1008, 1014 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). These instructions did not misstate the law on self-defense with regard to the reasonableness of the defendant's actions. *See Woods v. State*, 996 So.2d 100, 102 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008)(citing *Ellis v. State*, 708 So.2d 884, 885-87 (Miss. 1998)). As such, there was no error in

giving these instructions. Accordingly, the jury was properly instructed.

There can be no plain error without error. Therefore, Franklin's contention that the instructions constitute plain error is without merit.

Alternatively, Franklin argues that trial counsel "rendered constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to object" to these instructions. Appellant's Brief p. 29. Franklin wholly fails to establish his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel as not only were the instructions properly given, which shows no deficiency in counsel's performance, but also there is nothing in the record indicating that the failure to object to these instructions would have changed the outcome of the case.

VI. THE STATE'S CLOSING ARGUMENTS DID NOT CONSTITUTE PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.

Finally, Franklin argues that "in closing arguments the prosecutor made numerous improper remarks, which taken singly, or cumulatively constituted reversible plain error because they deprived [him] of a constitutionally fair trial and impinged on other constitutional rights." Appellant's Brief p. 33. Because there were no contemporaneous objections made at the trial court, Franklin again argues that allowing these arguments constituted plain error. "The plain-error doctrine requires that there be an error and that the error must have resulted in a manifest miscarriage of justice." *Tarver v. State*, 15 So.3d 446, 454 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). Allowing the State's closing arguments in this case did not constitute plain error as there was no error. Even if there were error, the arguments did not result in a manifest miscarriage of justice.

In reviewing claims of prosecutorial misconduct in closing arguments, this Court has previously set forth the following standard:

The standard used in reviewing closing arguments is "whether the natural and probable effect of the prosecuting attorney's improper argument created unjust

prejudice against the accused resulting in a decision influenced by prejudice." Rushing v. State, 711 So.2d 450, 455(\P 15) (Miss.1998) (quoting Taylor v. State, 672 So.2d 1246, 1270 (Miss.1996)). In reviewing whether a prosecutor's closing remarks constitute reversible error, we are to employ a two-part test. Spicer v. State, 921 So.2d 292, 318(\P 55) (Miss.2006). First, we review the remarks and determine whether the remarks were improper. Id. If we find that the prosecutor's statements during summation were improper, then we analyze whether the remarks prejudicially affected the accused's rights. Id. "It must be clear beyond a reasonable doubt, that absent the prosecutor's comments, the jury could have found the defendant guilty." Id.

Moss v. State, 977 So.2d 1201, 1211 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). Here, this Court need not look past the first part of the test as the State's closing arguments were not improper. Further, even if the arguments were improper, not one rises to the level of prejudicially affecting the outcome of the trial.

To support his claim that the State's arguments were improper, Franklin first asserts that the portion of the State 's closing argument set forth below was "designed to suggest that there were other witnesses who were not called who substantiated the prosecution's theory:

[t]hen they [the police] went out and they talked to other witnesses. They found relatives. They found friends. They found unrelated people in the community, people who had been out there. They talked to everybody they could find and got statements from them. And you heard from some of those witnesses here.

Appellants's Brief p. 33, (quoting Tr. 311). However, when read in context, this argument was clearly a brief summary of the police officers' investigation into this crime. The prosecutor was simply reminding the jury of some of the steps taken by officers in their investigation of the crime. There is nothing improper about such a statement. Additionally, Franklin provides no authority to support his claim that this was improper.

Secondly, in support of his allegation of prosecutorial misconduct, Franklin claims that the State, during closing argument, "identified numerous witnesses who were available and interviewed by the police whom the defendant did not call." (Appellant's Brief p. 35). It is, in fact, improper to comment on a party's failure to call a particular witness who was equally accessible to both

parties. *Ross v. State*, 603 So.2d 857, 864 (Miss. 1992). However, such did not occur in the present case. The State never once claimed that Franklin failed to call a particular witness. Nor does Franklin point out in his appellate brief a single witness which the State argued he could have, but did not, call at trial. Instead, Franklin selectively quotes a portion of the State's closing argument and claims that it was "designed to suggest" that he did not call certain witnesses because they would have provided unfavorable testimony. Appellant's Brief at 35. Read in context, it is clear that the State was merely summarizing the police investigation of Taylor's murder, not pointing out potential witnesses who were available to both parties and who Franklin did not call.

Franklin next argues that during closing argument the State commented on his failure to testify. Although not entirely clear, it seems that Franklin suggests that because the State, in summarizing the police investigation, mentioned the fact that the police interviewed Franklin, effectively commented on his failure to testify. "Although a direct reference to the defendant's failure to testify is strictly prohibited, all other statements must necessarily be looked at on a case-bycase basis." *Marshall v. State*, 22 So.3d 1194, 1197 (¶13) (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) (*Strahan v. State*, 729 So.2d 800, 807(¶27) (Miss. 1998). When read in context, it is again clear that the State's passing reference to the fact that Franklin was interviewed was nothing more than part of the State's summation of the police investigation, not a comment on Franklin's failure to testify.

Franklin also claims that the State commented on his right to not testify elsewhere in closing argument. After pointing out that two State's witnesses placed a gun in Franklin's hand immediately prior to and during the murder, the prosecutor stated the following:

So I ask you, who puts a gun in anyone else's hand, anyone? Forget Lenario Davis or keep him in. Who else puts a gun in any other person's hand, the gun that killed Deck Taylor? Who? What evidence? Where? When? How? Where are they? Nowhere. Nowhere. What evidence do you have to contradict the State's case?

T. 328. This honorable Court has repeatedly recognized the difference between commenting on a defendant's failure to testify, and commenting on the defendant's failure to put on a successful defense. *Id.*; *Hart v. State*, 965 So.2d 721, 724 (¶9) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (citing *Jimpson v. State*, 532 So.2d 985, 991 (Miss.1988); *Stubbs v. State*, 878 So.2d 130, 136-37 (¶18) (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). Read in context, it is clear that the State was arguing for the credibility of the State's witnesses who testified that they saw the defendant with a gun prior to and during the murder and contrasting that with Franklin's failure to put on a successful defense.

Franklin also argues that the State improperly vouched for one of its witnesses, Misty Boling. Appellant's Brief p. 36. However, "[r] arely does reversal result from bolstering or vouching by the prosecutor." Hollis v. State, 724 So.2d 403, 404 (Miss. Ct. App. 1998). This is certainly not one of those cases requiring reversal. The portion of the argument in question is simply a comment on facts in evidence. See Chase v. State, 645 So.2d 829, 855 (Miss. 1994) (citing Johnson v. State, 416 So.2d 383, 391 (Miss.1982)) (holding that "during closing argument, the prosecutor, as well as defense counsel, may comment on facts in evidence and may draw proper deductions from those facts"). Here the State was noting that Ms. Boling initially gave a statement about her opinion of the seriousness of Franklin's threat but when facing Franklin in court opined that the threat seemed more like a joke. Counsel "may draw whatever deductions seem to him proper" from the evidence. Goff v. State, 14 So.3d 625, 654 (Miss. 2009) (quoting Bell v. State, 725 So.2d 836, 851 (Miss. 1998)). Moreover, "[t]rial counsel is granted wide latitude during closing argument." Manning v. State, 735 So.2d 323, 345 (Miss. 1999). "[T]he court cannot control the substance and phraseology of counsel's argument; there is nothing to authorize the court to interfere until there is either abuse, unjustified denunciation, or a statement of fact not shown in evidence." Id.

Not one of Franklin's claims about the State's closing arguments being improper are

substantiated by the record and Mississippi law. Thus, there was no error in allowing the arguments at trial. There can be no plain error without error. Furthermore, the record does not evidence that, absent the State's comments, the jury would have found Franklin not guilty. Therefore, Franklin's contention that allowing the State's closing arguments constituted plain error is without merit.

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